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CHAPTER I
INTRODUCTION

Between 1522 and 1534, Dr. Martin Luther translated the
Bible from the Hebrew and Greek into the German language.

In 1535, Mliles Coverdale finished William Tyndale's trans-
lation and printed the first English Bible. The influence of
Luther's German trenslation is very evident in the work of
Miles Coverdale, and thereafter, the Matthew's Bible, 1537,
whlch, in turn served as the basis for the King James
Versicn.

Caslicdoro de Reina printed the first complete Spanlish
Bible in 156%. The main purpose of this study 18 to present
the biography of Casiodoro de Relna. It was considered of
interest to observe what, if any, Lutheran influence could
be traced in Reina's Bible translation.

At the beginning it became apparent that material avail-
able on Caslodoro de Reina was very limited and difficult to
obtain. Despite this handicap, Dr. Theodore Hoyer, the
advisor, encouraged the writer to continue the study.

The thesis of the Lutheran scholar, Ernst Schafer,
Seville und Valladolid, was very helpful in its descriptlion
of the religious movemente in Seville during the first half
of the sixteenth century. Protestant Thomas McCrie in L&

Reforma en Espafla en el Siglo XVI presented an overall view
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of the religious history of Spain from the time of the

Apostles to the sixteenth century. The work that provided
the greatest assistance with the 1life of Casiodoro de Reina
during his exlile was Historia de los Heterodoxos Espanoles,
by the Catholic historian, Marcelino Menéndez y Pelayo. His
work includes the contents of Relna's correspondence which
was collected by Edward Boehmer. Menéndez y Pelsyo wrote
with a certain objectivity, but a times, drew conclusions
which betrayed his religious affiliations. He apparently
endeavored to point out the differences and difficulties that
arose within the body of Protestants.

Another valuable source for the presentation was
B. roster Stockwell's Prefacios & las Biblias Castellanas
del Siglo XVi. In the prefaces of the Relna Bible and
Valera's revised Bible, one was able to read in the authors'
own words, the reason and purpose for the translation and
the revision. The writer 1s also indebted to Claudio
Gutierrez Marin, E. G. Schwiebert, Harold J. Grimm, Phlllp
Schaff, J. A. Llorente, John E. Longhurst, Marcel Bataillon,
and Thomas M. Lindsaye.

The writer tried to present his conclusions with impar-
tiality. He will feel rewarded 1f the reader of this thesis
will be moved to a greater appreciation of the Lutheran
Reformetion, which, perhaps not directly, but most certainly
indirectly, influenced the presentation of the Spanish
Bible; and if he will once agein recall with gratitude the
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sacrifices that were entailed in presenting God's infallible

Word to the common man in the language he could read and

understand.




CHAPTER IIX
SEVILLE

By the end of the fifteenth century and beginning of
the sixteenth, the condition of the Roman Church had
reached such a deplorable state that reform was recognized
as a necessity by all thoughtful men everywhere--men of
polities, of letters, of the church. The protest was not
limited to individuals, but was expressed in the represent-
ative bodies of the governments in Germany, England, and
France.

Criticism was endless. One of the more common com=
pPlaints was that the clergy, especially those of higher rank,
Occupled themselves with everything except the one thing
which was their special trust--the care of souls. They con=-
cerned themselves excessively with government affairs.
Furthermore, they, who were the overseers of the morals,
both of the lower clergy and the parishoners, were often the
worst offenders.

Humanism held one concept of reform. It deemed Scho=-
lastic theology the greatest bond to free and new learning,
and therefore demanded a relaxation of the Scholastie
strangle-hold.

Others maintained that the Church had lost religion

itself and that the one reformation needed was a rediscovery
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of roligion and enlightenment of the individual heart and
consclence.

The only country, however, where all of the various
eoncepts of reform could he embedied in a definite plan and
vwere successfully executed, was Spain. In the Spanish move=
ment one is able to see clearly what the mediaeval reformers
wished to effect, and what they meant by a "reformation of
the Church." The plan provided certain secular controle..
All canonicel laws for purification of the morals of the
clergy were revived end enforced. A measured accommodation
was made with Humanism, but steadfast adherence to the chief
doctrines of Scholastie theology was maintalned. The hier-
archy, the rites and usages of the mediaeval church were
preserved in their entirety. Heresy was ruthlessly sup-
pressed. Spaln, therefore, furnishes the classic example of
what has been termed the Catholic Reformatione.

In Spain was seen the first systematic attempt to place
secular powers over the clergy to combat "the deteriorating

influence of the Roman Curia upon the local Church, and to
1

restore discipline among the clergy."
The Spanish Reformation began during the reign of

Ferdinand and Isabella, under the guidance of a Franclscan

monk, Francisco Ximenes de Cisneros. Ximenes became father-

confessor of Queen Isabella in 1492, archbishop of Toledo

1
Thomas M. Lindsay, A History of the Reformation
(Edinburgh: T. & T. clark,‘H"m“'s' T)'z. Pp. 484=-480,
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and Primate of all Spain in 1495, Inquisitor General in
1507. Twenty years before the reformation broke in Germany,
Cleneros started with reform. In Ximenes we see, in one
person, prereformer, reformer, and oounterrerormer.a

Ximenes personally visited all the monasteries and de-
manded full reports of the convents. After arduocus labor,
the Church in Spain secured a devoted clergy "whose personal
1life was free from the reproaches justly levelled at the
higher clergy of other lands." The following phase of his
reform was almed at overcoming the ignorance and lack of
culture among the clergy. In addition to the mediaeval uni-
versities of Salamanca and Valladolid, Ximenes founded one
in Alcald, another in Seville, a third at Toledo. Alcald
and Valladolid were the principal theological schools.>

On March 14, 1498, Ximenes laid the first stone of the
University of Alcald. Ximenes' dream was that from grammar,
students would progress to liberal arts; from the arts to
theology, enlivened by study of the Blble in the original.
The university's chief claim to distinction lay in the ab-
sence of a faculty of law. Theology was the purpose and
center of its existence and activity. At Alcald Clsneros

offered Thomistie, Scotistic, and Nominalistic theology.

®Marcel Betaillon, Erasmo y Espaha, translated from
French by Antonio Alatorre (Mexico: Fondo de Cultura
Econémica, 1950), I, 1,2,

3Lindsay, op. cit., p. 491.
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Nominallistic theology was a completely new idea in Spain.
Another innovation in the curriculum was the study of the
Bible with the help of the original languages in both
Teataments.4

One of the great works that Ximenes sponscred and
backed financially was a polyglot Bible. The work was begun
in 15C2. It was printed in the presses of Complutum or
Alcala de Henares. The six volumes were finished July 17,
1517. The 0Ol1d Testament contained in three columns the
original Hebrew text; the version of Jerome, called Vulgate;
and the Greek of the Septuagint. At the foot of every page
of the Pentateuch there was printed the Aramaic of the
Targum Onkelos with i1ts Latin translation. The New
Testament contained the original Greek and Latin Vulgate.
A Hebrew grammar and lexicon, a Greek vocabulary, and cer=
taln explanatory tracts were added to the work «2

Batalllon cleims, "The polyglot Bible, the glory of
Alcala in the annals of Humanism, 18 one of the most impos=-
ing works that the secience of philology, aided by the art of
printing, realized in that era."®

This same Ximenes who sponsored the polyglot, was how=

4Bat.aillon, op. eit., pp. 13=22,

SThomas MeCrie, Historia de la Reforma en Es aha en el
Siglo XVI, translated from English by Adam F. Sosa (Buenos
Alres: Libreria La Aurora, 1942), p. 44.

Bataillon, op. cit., p. 26. CONCORDIA SEMINARY

6
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ever, strictly opposed to the translation of the Bible into
the language of the land. His bellef was that Holy Serip-
ture should be conserved execlusively in the three languages
used on the supersecription of the cross of Christ, and that
if ever this norm was ignored, the most pernicious effects
would result.

As a substitute for the Gospels and Epistles, Cardinal
Ximenes obtained, or had translated, tracts dealing with
mystlec or monastic devotion, or biographlies of exemplary
individuals, both men and women such as: St. Catherine of
Siena, St. Angela of Fulgino, St. Mathilda, the instructions
of St. Vincent Ferrer, the meditations of Thomas Landulpho,
and the 1life of St. Thomas a'Becket, archbishop of
Canterbury.7

It is obvious that the main object of the Spanish move=-
ment was only to revive religious life within the limits
defined during the Middle Ages. It allowed no innovations
in the realm of religlous experience. Untouched and unal-
tered were the hierarchy; the medlaeval conceptions concern=-
ing priesthood and sacramente; the Pope as the acknowledged
and revered head of the Church; "the sacred ceremonies,
decrees, ordinances, and sacred usages"; and the dogmatie
theology of the mediaeval Churche. Actually, the only con=
ceesion to the new 1deas of the period was the limitation

7McCrie, ope. cite., PP. 46, 47T.
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of papal interfercnce in the affairs of national churches.
At thls time, the Papaey was thoroughly secularized and
plainly neglecting 1te spiritual obligations. The mode of
thought of the "new era" proposed that secular authorities
of the Hurcpean countries assume those dutles.

Perhnaps something of the new spirit crept in with the
homage paid to "New Learning," appreciation of the need of
an exact text of the original Seriptures, or the guarded ep-
provel of the laity's use of the Bible. Basically, however,
there was no deviation whlch a devoted adherent of the medi-
aeval Church could not readily accept.8

During this periocd of the history of Spaln, three years
after the posting of the Ninety-Five Theses in Wittenberg,
and the year after Charles V was elected Emperor of the Holy
Romen Empire, Casiodoro de Reina was born. Wilfrido Artus
sets the date earound 1520.9

The birthplece of Casiocdoro de Reina is a polnt on
which biographers disagree. Menéndez y Pelayo claims Reina
to be & Moor from Grenada; Nicolas Antonio considered him
from Extremsdura; and Pellicer from Seville. MeCrie, Artus,
Schaefer, and Boehmer agree with Pellicer that Casiodoro de

Reina was born in Seville.lo

BLindsay, op. gilt., pp. 492, 493.

9w11fr1do Artus, Los Reformadores Es enoles del Siglo
XVI (Buenos Alres: [Editorial La Aurora, EQ%Q,, i s

10y é 1a de los Heterodoxo
arcelino Menéndez y Pelayo, storia TTT—_§T--!
Espanoles (Buenos Aires: Libreria %er&ado, 19457, s OTe
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Ciprianoc de Valera, one of Casiodoro’s classmates and
reviser of his Bible trensletion, briefly desecribes Seville

in Treetise on the Popet

The eity of Seville 1s one of the most courteous, pop=-
ulous, wealthy, ancient, and fertile, with the most
sumptuous ediflces in all Spain: 1ts wealth 1s evident,
for all the treasures of the West Indies flow into 1t;
lte fertility is proved by the many olive groves, wheat
fields, vineyards, and groves of oranges, figs, pome-
grenates; even the uncultivated areas grow asparagus
and the dwarf fan-palm, palTetto; livestock also
abounds, especilally sheep.
Caslicdoro de Reina attended the Geronimite monastery,
San Isldro del Campo, two miles from Seville, on the oppo-
gite shore of the Guadalquivir River. During the occupation
of the Romans, & city, Itélica, had been founded at the
slte. Itdlica was renamed Ancient Seville; today known as
Santiponce. The Tirst inhabitants were Roman soldiers who
had completed their services under Scipio. With pride they
numbered among thelr sons the great emperors Trajan and

Adrian, and the great restorer of the Church, Theodosius.

The monsstery of San Isidro was under Cisterclan rule
until 1431, In the sixteenth century the powerful order of
the Geronimites made 1t their home. A large and expensive
monastery served as the dwelling place of these learned and

happy monks . >

11
Cipriano D. Valera, Los Dos Trafados Del Papa, I De
La Misa (Espana: Casa de Arnoldo Hatfildo, 1588; reimpresos

ESI,. Pe 241,

125, christ, Heroes Esgagoleg de la Fe (Madrid: Libre-
ria Naclonel y kxtranjera, s Pe 2074
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The prior of the monastery was Gerc{e Arias, better
known as Dr. Blanco (“hite) by virtue of the extreme white-
negs of his haire. Though his religious conviections often
wavered, li. Christ attributed to Dr. Blanco the entrance
of evangelical doctrines into the monastery of San Isidro.
Ernst Schafer claims that no less than twenty=three
Geronimite monks shared the Prior's religious convictions.
He oven 1ists the names: Garcia Arias, the ex-prior Fray
Francisco Farias, the vicar Juan de Molino, the procurator
Fray Pedro Pablo, the choir-singer Fray Fernando de Castil-
blaenco; the monks: Fray Gaspar de Porras, Domingo de
Churruca, Diego Ldépez, Francisco de la Puerta, Cipriano de
Velera, Lope Cortes, Alonso Baptista, Antonio del Corro,
Juan Crisdstomo, Andres de Mdlaga, Francisco Moreillo,
Casiodoro de Reina; the lay brethren: TFray Nelgar Carpin-
tero Benito, Juan Sastre (de Ledén), Bernaldo de Valdes,
Hernando de San Gerdnimoj and, finally, the vicar of Our
Lady in the Valley in Eeija, Fray Cristébal de Arrellano.l3

In the mid-forties of the sixteenth century a new
spirit pervaded the monastsry. The Prior began using new
books with evangelical doctrines. Already in 1519, John
Froben, a famous printer of Basel sent Luther tracts to

Spain written in Latin. In 1520, Froben sent Luther's

13Ernet schifer, Seville und Valladolid, die Ev.

Gemeinden Spaniens im Ref. Ze;faltez IHaTTe: Ver. f.
Ref. gesche. no. 7 ,-T953,. De .
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commentary on Geletions, elso Christian Liberty, and Luther's
Reply to Eraesmus on Free Will. These books were translated
into Spanish, epperently in Antwerp, under the dominlon of
Charles V, end prrinted st the cxpense of Spanish business-
men .,

On Mareh 20, 1521, Pope Leo X sent two briefsz to Spaln,
asking that every effort be made to prevent entrance of
Luther's books and those of his defenders. Upon recelpt
of the briefes, Cardinal Adrian ordered that these becks be
confiscated. After Adrien became Pope in 1523, he repeated
the orders end offered whatever help was needed for the
Inquisitors to carry out the demand.l4

Though the reeding of Luther's works was specifically
forbldden, there still developed a movement called
"Lutheran," which combined the ideas of the reformer with
Humanist criticism and Spanish Quietism, and which from

the outset met with vigorous oppoaitlonol5

While only the works of Luther were prohibited, other
Protestant boolkzs were easlly brought into Spain and widely
distributed. Erasmus' writings were very ponular. He had
many frliends in Spain, especlally at the University of
Alcald in Henares. At the university his writings were

translated into Spanish and printed.

14Mccrle, Ope glt., PPe T75=TT.

15Hare1a J. Grimm, %%? Reforpstion ira (New York: The
Macmillan Company, ¢. 19 » PP« 275, G.
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Two occurrences that helped make Luther better known
in Spalin were the plundering of Rome, 1527, by Charles V,
and the presentation of the Augsburg Confession in 1530.
Most of the Spaniards present with Charles V at the Diet of
Worms in 1521 returned to Spain with a wrong impression of
Luther. Because they did not understand the Biblical rea-
son for his historic stand upon Seripture, they thought
him haughty and proud. After studying the articles of the
Augsburg Confession, some of them realized their judgment

of Luther had been unfair.16

Some of the misconceptions
clarified were thet Luther and his followers did not believe
in God, the Trinity, or the Virgin. (For these reasons, in
Spain it wes considered as meritorious to strangle a Lu=-
theran as to shoot a Turk. Even the Emperor went with these
opinions to the Diet of Augsburg.)

The guestion 18, however, by what means had Luther's
and Erasmus' books entered the monastery? Was i1t through
the Prior himself; through two well known preachers at the
cathedral, Dr. Egidio and Dr. Constantino, who taught at the
monastery; or possibly through a monk, Antonlio del Corro, a
relative, perhaps nephew, of an Inquisitor? Antonio del
Corro was able to bribe lesser officlals of the Inquisition

to sell him confiscated heretical bookl.17

lsi-lcCrie, op. eit., pp. T8, 79«
17ﬁenéndez y Pelayo, op. eit., p. 112,
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On June 13, 1533, a young preacher, Dr. Constantino
Ponce de la Fuente, was called to occupy the pulplt at the
Cathedral in Seville. He was borm in 1500 in San Clemente
and studied at the University of Alcald in Henares. Dr.
Constantino's sermons were different from those of the ordi-
nary prcachers; he dlispensed with Scholasticlsm and in=-
structed his floek in God's Word, showing them through
Seripture, where, and how sin-weighted and repentant souls
could find grace and forgivenels.l8

Unfortunately, little is known about Constantino's
youth, especially his student years. This lack of infor-
mation makes it difficult to determine how, where, and from
whom he received instruction in Christian doetrines, which
differed little from justification alone by faith in the
merits of Jesus, as had just recently begun to be taught in
Germany. Not even his writings, Confession of a Repentan
Sinner, Christian Catechism, or Exposition of Christian
Doctrine reveal this interesting detail. He was very care=-
ful in his preaching and writings not to use phrases and
expressions too well known by the Inquisitors as heretical.
On November 1, 1548, Constantino preached to Philip II at
the church in Castellon de Empurias. FPhilip chose Con~
stantino to accompany him to Germany to be court chaplain

at the emperor's home in Brussels. In 1550, Constantino

1880h§fer, op. eit., . 6o
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accompanied Charles V to the Dliet of Augsburg. In 1552 he
returncd to ladrid, where he received from Prince Philip
700 dueste ennuelly es court cheplain. At this time he ap-
perently did not return to Seville. In 1554, Dr. Constan-
tino accowpanlied Prince Phnilip to England where he cbserved
the Catholic rssction egainst the Protestants. In 1555 he
finally returned tc Seville through bBarcelonae.

ATter his resturn, ir. Constantino preached more than
before, and greater crowds came to hear him. In 1556 he be-
gan teaching at Coleglo de la Doectrina in Seville. Rector
Kscobar asked him to lecture on the writings of Solomon and
the book cof Job. Constantino also taught at the Monastery
of San Isidro del Campo. The monks carefully copied hils
lectures and savod them in their flight to freedom.l®

Several years after Constantino began his work at the
cathedral, a student companion at Alcald was called to oc=
cupy the recontly vacated position of "Magistral-Kanonikats"
of Seville. 0Or. Egidio was Aragonese by birth, born in
Clivera; end at the time of his call to Seville, was teach-
ing Scholestlc theology in Siguenza. Because of his strong
Scholaestic tendencies, his sermons were dry and lifeless..
Instead of drawing people, he was driving them away. Ap-
proximately three years after his arrival in Seville, his

preeching chenged: his sermons became warmer, he discon-

1scndfrer, op. git., PP. 19-23.
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tinued Scholastic themes and preached Holy Scripture. Soon
people flocked to hear him as they did his friend, Dr.
Constantino. The change is attributed to Rodrigo de Valer,
a libertine turned ascetic. Rodrigo dally studied the Bible
in Latin and knew 1t like few others. It is said that this
Valer sought out Dr. Egidlio, pointed him to Seripture, and
pleaded with him to abandon Scholastic teachings. #Without
e doubt, Dr. Constantino alsc had great influence on his
student companion to help him use Seripture as text and to
help him see the central teachings of the Elble.

Be this as 1t may, about 1540 came the great change in
Dr. Egidio, and both friends, without bresking with the
Church, were making every effort to spread Scripture truths
through sermons and private visits. They were aided by a
third student companion, Dr. Vargas. He apparently died at
an early age, and the only information avalilable is that he
lectured on Romans and the Psalms.

Although the matter is not absolutely certain, we ga=
ther that, through the books of Luther and LErasmus obtained
openly or secretly and through the writings and teachings of
Constantino and Egidio, the new spirit at the monastery was
fostered and augmented-ao

Another person who helped with the introduction and

foundation of these new attitudes was the Prior, Garcia

QOSOhgfer, ODe. 9}_&-’ ppr. £, 10.
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Arias. He wes a men of keen intellect and extensive learn-
ing but uncertaln and vaecillatling in his behavior, duve in
pert to hie timidity, in part to cautlion and excessive re=
finement. His religious convictions were known to only very
few; yet, he would declare othera that held the same convic=-
tions, as heretics, when called upon to judge for the
Inquisition.

In splite of this, the man was the instrument for intro=-
dueing the light into the monastery of San Isidro at a time
when it was submerged in ignorance and superstlition. ¥With=-
out abendoning hls characteristic cautious attitude, he was
able to teanch his brethren that the true religion was some=-
thing quite different from the commonly held opinions; that
it did not consist in singing matins and vespers, in real-
lzing those ects of bodily services with which they occupied
their time; and if they sought to ohtain Cod's approval, it
wag necessary to know His will as revealed in Secripturs.
Expounding these pcints in his sermons and private conversa-
tlons, he awakened in the minds of the monks a feeling of
discontent with the routine, monotonous practices of the
monastery, and a desirse to attain a more enervating and pure
plety.

No one ean explain his sudden shift of attitudes, but
he abruptly began to recommend in word and deed, acts of
susterity and corporal mortifications more extreme than the

monastic rules of his order demanded. This attempt to revive
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superstitions produced a reaction which brought the most
happy conseauences tc the mopasterye. wuestioning the integ-
rity of the men whom they had once considered an oraecls,
gome of the more aetive resolved to ask edviece from Egidie
end his friends in Seville. Having received instruction from
them, these monks bazgan to teach the brethren in the monas-
tery the doctrines of the Gospsl in & simple and explieit
foerms 1In a few years the new opinions had leavened the
entire community. The person who contributed most to bring
about this state of affairs was Caslodoro ds Reina.

In 1557 a radical change took place in the monastery.
Znlightenad by Seripture and Protestant books, the prior,
superior, and the monks decided to reform their institution.
Hours were dedicated to listen to dissertations on Serip=-
ture; prayers for the dead were omitted or changed to les=-
sons for the living; indulgences and papal dlspensations, a
luerative business, were completely abolished; the imagses
ware kept, but no homage given them; in place of the super-
Btitious fast, habitual temperance weas established; instead
of being initieted in the vain, degrading practices of mon=-
esticism, novices were instructed in principles of true
pietys Of the ancient system, nothing remained except the
monastic dress and the exterlor ceremony of the mass, which
eould not havs been put aside without exposing themselves to

inevitahle dangerl.zl Sehéafer adds that the ma jority

2L4ecrie, op. git., pp. 130, 131,
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accepted and believed in the doectrine of justification by

falth alone.22

The beneficial effects of this change were also felt
outside the monastery. By means of conversation and cirocu-
lation of written material, these zealous monks spread
knowledge of the truth in all the surrounding territory,
even imparting it to individual residents in towns consid-
erably distant from Seville.2> Schéfer reports introduction
of Protestant teachings into the clolster of Santa Paula,
though the number of nuns who actually embraced the teaching
seems to have been small.24

Seville had a Protestant congregation. The number of
members is frequently exaggerated. At Montanus' suggestion,
one has mentioned 800 members. After discovering some here=-
tics, one Inquisitor is supposed to have sald that Seville
was completely lost because 1t was filled with Lutherans.
However, this is far from the truth, according to Sehgfer,
because the official acts of the Inquisition show that there
were no more than 130 members. Moreover, the name
"Lutheran" must always be qualified; although some were of

the belief, "sola fide, sola gratia, sola seriptura," not

all of those called "Lutheran" held this convictione.

2250néfer, op. cit., pe 1l.

23McCrle, op. cit., pP. 131,

2450nétrer, op. glt., pe 10.
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Lutheran and heretic were synonymous to the Inquisitors.
The "enlightened," Erasmians, Jewlsh and Moorish back=
sliders, were convenlently termed "Lutheran" for purposes
of prosecution.

Little information 1s available on the manner in
which the congregation was nurtured and strengthened in
the faith. Schédfer supposes that small groups gathered in
private homes to be instructed in the Gospel by some of the
leading personalities, Dr. Constantino, Dr. Egidio, or Juan
Gonzélez.>? 1In another work, Schéfer reports that Caslodoro
de Reina also helped disseminate the Gospel in Seville.26
One of his more famous puplls was Mar{a de Bohorques. She
knew Latin, Greek, and was 80 well prepared in Holy Serip-
ture that the Inquisitors had to marvel at her knowledge and
firm faith.27 Of the twenty-three monks who embraced the
evangelical faith, Casiodoro de Reina 1s the only one spe=-
cifically mentioned by historians as having helped bring
about the spiritual change in the monastery and as having
helped in the instruction of people in Seville.

The congregation organized formally and remained under
the pastoral inspection of a medieal doctor, Dr. Cristdbal

de Losada. He was asslisted in his congregational duties by

25Sch§fer, ope cite, PP. 15, 16.
261p14., p. 16, footnote 57; Beitrage, II, 278f.

2T1p1d., ppe. 44, 45.
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Reina, who was notably successful in the minlstry.28

Because the homes of Isabel de Baena, Luls de Abrego,
and others were not large enough to accommodate the number
of bellevers that gathered secretly, the congregation
planned to purchase a house==a thought entertalned even
until 1557, the year which marked the begimming of the end.2?
Enemies of the new spirit in the monastery and in Seville

soon began to revive; and they inereased both in numbers and

influence.

3 MeCrie, op. cit., P« 127,

2980h£fer, Op. cltey, P« 24,




CHAPTER III
FLIGHT

Nowhere in all medlaeval Europe were Christlan religlon
and patriotism united as in Spain; the seven-hundred-year
war against the Moors strengthened the religlous convictlions.
Separated from the rest of Europe by the Pyrenees, the
Spenish people "eclung more closely to that visible solidar-
ity of all Christian people which found expression in the
medlaeval conception of the mediaeval Catholiec Church."
Spain was the bilrthplace of the Dominican monastic order
which created and led the Inquisition in i1ts stermest and
most savage form. Spain also suppllied the Counter-
Reformation with its most devoted leader, Ignatius Loyola,
founder of the Socliety of Jesus.1

It 18 quite remarkable then that evangellical activity
could have begun and progressed to such an extent in a ecity
like Seville. Sinece the thirteenth century, Seville had
been the headquarters of the Inquisition, and since 1554,
the home of the Society of Jesus.

In 1474 the crowns of Castlile and Aragon were unlted
under Ferdinand and Isabella. Shortly after, Pope Sixtus IV
attempted to introduce the papal Inquisition into Spain to

1
(Edinburgh: T. & T. Clark,

Thomas M. Lindsay, A Hiato;z‘g; e Reformation
» PDe 8, ¥




23

crack down on Spain's judaizing "converses." The youthful
monarchs resented such encroachments on their authority;
they preferred to deal with the "conversos" themselves with
an inquisition of thelr own meking, and subject to their
own control. In 1473, Ferdinand opened negotiations with
Sixtus IV for the establishment of a Spanish Inquisition,
insistlng upon the crown's right to make its own appoint=
ments and dismissals of Inquisition officials. Sixtus IV

yielded.2

The Bull establishing the Inqulisition in Castile
was issu2d September 17, 14803 the Catholic rulers namsed
the first inquisitors, who began their functions January 2,
1481, in the Dominican monastery of Saint Paul in Seville.
However, the tribunel did not assume its permanent form
untll 1483 when the Domlnican Friar Thomas de Torquemada wes
desgignated general inquisitor, at first, only of Castile-=
then also of Aragon.3

Llorente assures us that the Spanish Inquisition was
not a new creation of Ferdinand and Isabella, only an en= |

largement and reformation of the old Inquisition, which had
existed since the thirteenth oentury.4 The earliest

2
John E. Longhurst, Zrasmus and the S%ag;sh Inquisition:
The Case of Juan de Valdes I%Ibuquerque: e Unlversity o
New Mexico Press, 1950), DPs 57, 5B.
PMonas Joorie, Historis de le Reforme en Lspafis eu ol
: &

Siglo XVI, translated from English by Adam F. Sosa (Buenos
Alres: Libreria Lsa Aurora, 1942), pp. 55, 56.

4'Joh. Anton Llorents, Kritische Gesghichte der spanisch
Inquisition ( ghig-eaj, p. Intro. EfI.
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beginning of this institution no doubt took place in 1184 at
the Council of Verona. However, the council did not estab=-
lish a separate tribunal for the persecution of heretics,
but rather left the matter entirely in the hands of the
bishops. The Tribunal of the Inquisition was not established
untll 1233, when Pope Gregory IX withdrew the right to find
and Judge refugee heretics in France from the bishcps and
commended this task to the Dominican monks .-

The original Inquisition was designed to suppress heresy
of every kind everywhere, but the Spanish Inquisition was a
national affair for the suppression of certain definite forms
of heresy. These were almost entirely the cases of relapsed
converts to Judaism end Islamiesm (conversos), and those
practicing secret rites of these raithu.s

One can say that the activity of the Inquieltion was
sporadie, dapending largely on the general need, monarch,
pope, or inquisitor. When Charles V took the Spanish throne
in 1516, he attempted curtailment of the activity of the
Inquisition, which had gotten out of hand under the powerful
leedership of Cardinal Ximenes. His plan for reform was |
temporarily thwarted, however, when a serious menace from |
Germany forced him to proceed with utmost care. Why should

he destroy the agency that could possibly save his country

SMeCrie, op. elts, PPe 51, 52.

GA. Hyett Verrill, The Inquisition (New York:
D. Appleton and Company, 1031), Pe 245
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from horeasy? INevertheless, durlng his reign the Inquisition
passed throush a dorment etaga.7

This apparent laxity, and certaln ocincidental oeccure
rences pgave some people cause for thinking that Charles V
was favorably inclined toward the Reformetions In a dispute
wlth Pope Peul IV three years before Charles' death, the
Pope threstened him with excommunication. Constantine Tonece
de la Fuente and Agustin Cazella, hls two chaplaine, had cm=
breced the Protestant falth end his confessor, De Regla, had
been obligated to abjure theme Carranze and Villalbe, who
attended him on his deathbed, were shortly thereafter de=-
nounced to the Inquisition. In epite of those inecidents,
however, there are very good reasons tc bellieve that in his
last days, Cherles V hated the Protestants more then previ-
ously, end mreatly lamented the fact that he had not
handled them with more severitye

When Cherles heard that "Luthersnism" was spreading in
Spein and that a number of people apprchended had been sus=
pected of heresy, he wrote from the monastery of S5t. Yuate
to hie daughter, regent of Spein: "Apprehend the vwhole
buneh, and burn all of them, after employing every means to
make them Christians before you punish them."

Spealzing ebout orders that Charles V gave to the Inqui=~

sitors respscting the "hereties" in Spain, MeCrie quotes

Tonghurst, ops clte, Dps 60=68.
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Sandoval in Historia de la Vida y Hechos del Emperador

Carlos V:

If you do not eondemn them to the fire, you will commit
an error g8 bilg es I committed by forgiving the life

of Luther. Although I did 1t only because of the safe-
conduct which I hed ziven him, end the promise which I
made at & moment when I thought to be eble to suppress
the heretics by other meana. I confess I acted wrongly
in this, because I wes not obligated to fulfill my
promise to a heretic, when he offended a lord as great
as I, and also offended God. TFor that reason I could
have, rather, I should have forgotten my word end thus
avenged the offense which had been done to God. If he
had alone offendsd me, I should heve faithfully kept

my word; but by not having killed hlim, heresy contlinued
tc progress, when his death, I am sure of that, would
have drowned it in 1ts birth.

MeCrie continues to emphasize that these were not just
bits of conversation. In his testament drawn up in the
Netherlands, Charles asked of his son: "Be faithful to the
commandments of the holy mother Church, and eapeclally favor
and support the holy office of the Inquisition against the
depravity and apostasy of the heretics."

A few weeks before his death, he again asked his son to
follow his orders regarding the heretles:

That the heretics be persecuted and punished as their
crime deservee wlthout excepting any guilty person,
neither showing any consideration to any supplication,
degree of quality. And thet my intention can be com=
pletely fulfilled, I cherge you to support and see to
1t that the hely Inquisition is patronized, becezuse she
18 the means to prevent and correct so many evils, as

I heve determined in my testament; that in that way you
fulfill your duty as prinee, and that our Lord prosper
you in your kingdom and proteet you agalnst your
enemles, do ghis for my greater tranquillity and
contentment.

81&00!‘19, .920 &., PPe 145-147.
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Two years bhefore his death, Chsrles V sbdiceted the
throne in fevor of his son, Philip. Philip's coronation
took place in the Great Hall of the palace in Brussels on
October 25, 1555. The new king wae then twenty=eight yeers
0ld. In appearance he resembled his father, but in speech
was a Spaniard. He lacked his father's amiability, and
found 1t impossible to yield his position to win support.
Philip II did, however, resemble Charlies V in many respects.
Both were slow and industrious, only Philip was slower.
Both had the same cynical distrust of all men, and the same
belief in the divine selection of the head of the House cof
Hapsburg to gulde all arfeirs of Church and State, irrespec-
tive of Popes or kings==-only in Philip it amounted to a sort
of gloomy mystical assurance. Both showsd the same ecallous=-
ness to human suffering, and wers absolutely unable to com=-
prehend the force of strong religious conviotion.9

From the start of Philip II's reign in 1555, the
Inquisition became an instrument of papal, as well as royal
authority, for the elimination of heresy. Because 1t was
both ecclesiastical and eivil in its organization and func-
tion, the institution was used by the Spanish monarch to
achieve political, as well as religious, aims. So harsh
were its measures that Pope Pius V protested to Philip.

Even Iznatius Loyola and Sante Teresa fell under 1ts

9L1ndsay. op. cite., PP. 240, 241.
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persecution.t?
The otuer ecclesiastlosl organizetion that wes im=-
pPlanted in Seville was the Soclety of Jesus. It had ite
ineception, &t least potentially, when, on August 15, 1534,
Ignatlus Loycla and six compenions met in the chapel of
St. Dennis at Montmartre to dedicate themselves to a 1ife of
service to Gods Only one, Le Fevre, was a priest. In 1537
Loyola and his companions, now ten in number, met in Venice.
They were consecrated as priests end prepered to travel to
Jerusalem. Loyole and two companions went to Rome to offer
thelr services to Pope Paul III. They had difficulty
geining recognition by the Pope. However, when Contarinie-
who Jjoined Loyola in hie “"exercises"--and King John III of
Portugel=-who needed missicneries for his Eest Indien
Colonieg=-offered their support, the pope constituted the
company en order in the Bull, Regimini Militantlis Ecclesiae,
in September, 1540.11

Under the direection of General Commissioner for Spain
end Indie, Francisco Borja, the Jesuits made their home in
Seville in 1554. They founded a school wlith the express
purpose of fighting the "dangerous doctrines of the two

serpents," Egidio and constantino.12

loHarold Je. Grimm, The Reformation ira (New York: The
Maemillan Company, Ce 1954), p. .

1]‘Ib1d.’ ppl 380, 381.

ladrnet Schdfer, Seville und V%liadolid. die Ev. QEE%LB?
den Spaniens im Ref. Zeltalter alle: Ver. f. Ref. gesche
no. E, 1003), De e 204
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One can understand that an awakened Inquisition under
Philip and the never dorment Jesuits made the Evangelicals'
sltuation very difficult in Seville. Furthermore, the
Evangelical leaders did not prove to be examples of forti-
tude under pressure. Prior Garcis Arias has already been
mentioned. Statements by Montanus, one of his pupils, indi-

cate that the man vacillated from one gide to the other.

This caused discontent and mistrust in the minds of the monks

already accustomed to the practice of the evangellical life.
In 1550, Dr. Egidio was designated by the emperor to
occupy the vacant bishopric of Tortosa. Hls enemles accused
him to the Inquisitors of eliminating saint worshlp,
despising picture worship, and denying workrlghteousnesl.}3
He was imprisoned in the castle of Triana, a relic of the
Moors, located on the opposite side of the Guadalquivir
River, to await his trial. Dr. Egidio's imprisonment was
a heavy blow to the young Eveangelicals in Seville; but
greater was their distress when Dr. Egidlo, the one who had
founded them in the faith, denled his teachings to escape

the fire..?

This gave many reason for serious thought.
After Dr. Constantino returned to Seville in 1555 from
his trip to England with Philip, he attempted to renew his

friendship with the imprisoned Dr. Egidio. The difficult

yecrie, op. cit., p. 93.
1"Bche.fer, op. cit., pp. 17, 18,

I e
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sltuation created for Dr. Constantino in trying, yet not
daring openly to show the Inquisition his concern for Dr.
Egidio, was resolved by the latter's death early in 1556.
He diled in the evangellical falth, after suffering six years
of privation in the Triana castle. In February 1556, Dr.
Constantino was elected to replace Dr. Egidio as "Magistral-
Kanonikat." At the beginning of 1557, he was crdained in
an atmosphere of apparent tranquillity. Danger was mounting,
however. At Francisco Borja's instigation, the people began
calling Dr. Constantino a heretie; and Borja, himself,
preached 1t from his pulpit.

Recognizing his peril, Dr. Constantino thought to enter
the Society of Jesus as a means of self-protection. Thus,
the rumor circulated in Seville during autumn of 1557, that
Dr. Constantino had petitioned the Provinecial Father
Bartolomé Bustamante to be admitted into the Jesuit order.
His plan was unsuccessful, however, and he was also taken
into cust.ody.l5

Some of the adherents of the evangelical doctrines
foresaw the troublous times and fled early. Among them was
Juan Pérez de Pineda, who immediately began a translation
of the New Testament in Geneva. He may have left Seville
as early as 1554, In 1555, seven persons, men and women,

left Seville.1®

15scnérer, op. eit., pp. 24=27.

1601pr1ano D. Valera, Los Dos Tratados Del Papa, I De
La Misa (Espafia: Casa de Arnoldo Hatfildo, IEBB; reimpresos

TB-SI , 2 Pe 2470
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In view of the fact that several people had already
escaped, and the increasing danger threatening Seville, the
monka at San Isidro began to weigh the possibility of flight.
It was not a hasty plan and many sides of the question were
carefully considered. They wondered if, and how such a
large number could flee without detection. On the other
hand, even if many did reach safety, they would undoubtably
leave those remaining under a cloud of suspicion, and an
easy prey for the Inquisition. The latter point moved them
to a unanimous decision to remain together, and entrust
themselves completely to the grace and providence of God.
Without specifying the occasion, MecCrie reports that, moved

by an obscure but alarming turn of events, the monks again

gathered and revoked the first resolution. Then everyone

remained free to adopt his own course~-to flee or to remain.17
Valera, one of the fugitive monks, records:

In the year 1557, marvelous things worthy of perpetual 1
remembrance happened in Seville, that is, that in one
of the most famous and wealthy monasteries of Seville,
called San Isidro, the matter of the true religion pro-
gressed so well, and was practiced so openly, that, not
being able to remain there with a clear consecience,
twelve of the monks, in a short period of time left,
one this way and one another way: who within a year
met each other in Geneva, where before parting they
agreed to meet; none of them reached destination with-
out going through serious perils and dangers: but from
all these dangers, God delivered themi and with His
powerful hand brought them to Geneva.

1MMecrie, op. eit., pp. 144, 145.

18valera, op. cit., pp. 247, 248.
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Schafer states that only eleven monks fled and 1lists

the names: Fray Francisco Farias, the vicar Fray Juan de

Molino, the procurator Fray Pedro Pablo; the brethren,

Caslodoro de Reina, Antonio del Corro, Lope Corres, Hernando

de Castilblanco, Cipriano de Valera, Franclsco de la Puerta,
Alonso Baptista and Juan Sastre. The difference in numbers l
between Schéfer's and Valera's reports may be explained by

the fact that the viear of Eelja, Fray Cristobal de Arellano,
started with the fugitives, but unfortunately, decided teo
return.t?

The flight could not have been easy to effect. If
Philip II ordered a strict watch over the movement of horses
between Spain and France, he ordered even closer observation
of the movements of men. Marin claims that the refugees
were adequately disguised and aided by Spanish people to
eross the frontiers.2°

Although Menéndez y Pelayo writes that Casiodoro de
Reina did not flee until 1559,2! the accepted date is 1557.
Schafer even specifies spring or summer of 1557.19 Regard~

less of the time of year, 1t was not a day too soon. The

disappearance of twelve monks from a well-known monastery

lgsohgfer, op. gite., P. 29.
20
Claudio Gutierrez Marin, H;lﬁoris de la Reforma e
da

hd

Espana (Mexico, D. F.: Casa Uni e Publicaciones, S. de
Rl LC' 1942)’ p. 12#.

ﬂalnarcelino Menéhdez y Pelayo, Historia de los Heterodoxos
Espanioles (Buenos Aires: Libreria Ferlado, 1945), I1I, 97.
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aroused much suspieclon, which was only increased in July,
1557, with the discovery of evangelical books and New
Testaments brought into the ecountry by Julidn Herndndez
(Julianillo). The actual discovery of the evangelical sctiv-
itles, however, came as the result of a Protestant church
member's superstitious fear and the treason of another, who,
for a time had acted as a secret emissary of the Inquisition.
Once the Inquisition was definitely informed, it acted imme-
dlately; and according to MeCrie, in one day took over two
hundred prisoners in Seville and viecinity.

If prisoners could have expected a fair and open trial,
then even the death sentence would have been a relief. Fow=
ever, after long imprisonment their solitude was interrupted
by attempts to rob them of their spiritual comforts; at
other times they were repeatedly asked to retract, with the
promise of freedom; after a frank confession the evidence
was used against them; they had to contemplate friends
Btruggling in despair. Even after they were proven guilty,
the captives had to wait and wait in uncertainty for the
inevitable end. Most of them were imprisoned two, some,
three years. Dr. Igidio suffered six years before God
delivered him through death. In this manner, Philip II and
the Inquisitors attempted to terrorize the nation; and
prove to all Europe their zeal for the Catholic faith with

persecution of herely.22

22yecrie, op. glt., pp. 153, 154.
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The last part of this dismal tragedy was the "auto de
fe" (act of faith). One Spanish writer intimated that it
was supposed to represent the terrors of the Day of Judg-
ment. The most important figures on the scene were the
prisoners, who, no doubt, were grateful for a glimpse of day-

light after years in the dungeon. Early morning of the

appointed day, the prisoners were dressed in different habits,
the type of which was determined by their guilt. Those sus-
pected of having erred lightly were dressed in black. Those
who faced more serious charges wore a “$§n Benito," a loose,
yellow knee-length tunic, drawn close around the neck. On
the tuniec of those who had retracted, who therefore would be
strangled before being burned, were painted inverted flames,
to indicate they had escaped the fire. The "San Benitos" of
those condemned to burn while still living were adorned with
flames, surrounded by devils carrying wood or blowing the
fire. The same infamous caricatures were painted on the
carton cape.

The prisoners were gathered on the patio of the prison.
A company of scldiers led the procession, followed by a
group of priests. Puplls from Colegio de la Doctrina marched,
8inging the liturgy antiphonally. Next in line came the
priscners; arranged according to degree of guilt, with the

most serious offenders last, carrying torches or crosses.
Each prisoner was accompanied by two officers of the Inqui-

sition. Those condemned to die were also accompanied by two

i e
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priests. Following the prisoners were the local magis=-
trates, the judges and publiec officials, a retinue of the
nobllity on horseback, the secular clergy and monks, and the
high Inquisitorial officials with attendents. The common
erowd eclosed the procession.

Having reached the determined site, the celebration
began with a sermon, followed by reading of the prisoners'
sentences. The chief Inquisitor would then "absolve" those
of lesser gullt, leaving them under obligation 4o suffer
penance, exile, becatings, forced labor, or prieon.

After reading the sentences of those condemned to die,
the chief official proceeded to degrade those who belonged
to sacred orders, teering from them, piece by plece, their
sacerdotal garb, a ceremony deliberately carried out in such
a manner that each one of its detalls would expose the
victim to the shame and ridicule of the witnesses., Subse-
quently, they were formally presented to the secular Jjudges
to suffer the punishment "the civil law applied to heretics."
If the individual condemned to dle had already gone to his
eternal rest, or had reached asylum, the ceremony described
above was practiced in erriey.23

Between 1559 and 1562 the inhabitants of Seville were
witnesses to four "autos de fe" in the Inquisition's effort

to purge the city of heresy, the first of which was

23Mocrie, op. git., pp. 161-164.
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celebrated on September 24, 1559.

After this first taste of blood, the Inquisition tried
to apprehend Dr. Juan Pérez de Pineda and other distributers
of Seripture from neighboring countries. A disguised
Augustinian monk, Fray Lorenzo de Villavicencio, spied in
Frankfurt. The success of the Inquisition in foreign nations
was negligible; however, it was possible to take by surprise
two refugees in Turlingen, Holland=--a Geronimite monk, Fray
Juan de Leon, and Juan Séanchez of Valladolid. They were
taken back to Spain in heavy chalns and burned for their
evangelical faith at the seeond Auto de Fe, December 22, 1560.
This one was of special interest because among the procession
of prisoners appeared three effigies representing the leaders
of the Protestant group: Dr. Egidio, Dr. Juan Pérez de
Pineda, and Dr. Constantino, who in February, 1560, had died
at Triana castle, still firm in the evangelical falth.

The third Auto de Fe took place April 26, 1562, as pre-
viously, on San Francisco square. Although the number of
people actually burned was insignificant (six), again the
event was made interesting because of the persons burned in
effigy. The Inquisition finally recognized the impossibility
of returning the refugees; and therefore declded to declare
them heretics to be burned in effigy. Among them were: the
deceased Gaspar Baptista, the Geronimite monks, Fray Fran-
cisco Farias, Juan de Molino, Pedro Pablo, Casiodoro de

Reina, Antonio del Corro, Lope Cortes, Hernando de Castil-
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blanco, Cipriano de Valera, Francisco de la Puerta, and
Alonso Baptista; and the Sevillan refugees, Pedro de Soja,
Malechor Dias, Marfa de Trigueros, Francisco de Cérdenas
and his wife, Ana de Maynera.

The fourth and last Auto de Fe was October 28, 1562,
The victims were: Maestro Garcfa Arias, firm in falth; his
faithful disciples, Fray Cristdbal de Arrellano, Fray Juan
Crisdstomo; also Juan de Vantillana (after five years of
interrogetion); Franecisco Alvarez, Juan Baptiesta, and three
foreigners taken from a boat, "The Angel.“24

Menéndez y Peleyo mekes a casual comment about the end
of the Evangelical movement: "Two autos de fe in Seville,
enother two 1n Velledolid, dissolved that summer cloud."
He steted thet the "exaggerated shedding of blood" was mueh
less then tcdey would have been used by any liberal and
tolerent government to suppress & military conspiraey or
small 1nsurrection.25

Not all Catholle writers agree with Menédndez y Pelayo
that the Protestant movement was "just & summer cloud.”
MeCrie quotes two writers who maintained that if the Inqui-
sitlon had not stopped those preachers when it did, the
Protestant religion would have spread through Spain as a

fire, because people of all walks of 1ife and of both sexes

24Scha”fer, Ope &Jﬁo, PDe M’SB.

2SMenéndez y Pelayo, op. cit., p. 64.
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were remerkably willing to accept 1t. The other Catholie
historian wrote that the prisoners of the Inquisition in
Valladolid, Seville, and Toledo were important personages.
By virtue of their influence and number, he was convineced
that 1f destruction of the movement had been delayed by even
80 little as two or three months, that all of Spain would
have been caught in the reformation.26

Actually, the four Autos de Fe by the Inquisition all
but destroyed the Evangelical church in Seville. Approxi-
mately one hundred people were killed or severely punished.
The Jesulte made certain new "heresy" would not crop out
again so quickly. Between 1557 and 1564 they made a Jesult
echool of Colegio de la Doctrina, an orphanage, where once
Dr. Egidio and Dr. Constantino had taught Holy Seripture at
the invitation of Rector kscobar. They also attended to the

task of cleansing the monastery of San Isldro of hersly.27

26Mccrie, op. cit., Pe 39.
27Sch£fer, _O_R. citog PDPe 51. 52.




CHAPTER IV
EXILE

From the time of Dr. Egidio's imprisonment in 1550,
Spaniards who fled the Inquisition sought refuge in Geneva.
There, Dr. Juan Pérez de Pineda translated and printed his
New Testament in 1556. He also started a Spanish congrega=-
tion. At the close of 1557 the eleven monks that fled from
San Isidro reunited in Geneva.

After Dr. Juan Pérez de Pineda went to France, the
Spanish congregetion was served by Casiodoro de Reina and
other enlightened compatriots. The Spanish group gradually
disintegreted, however, because many members moved to
Ingland and other places. Most of those remaining in Geneva
understood Italian and joined the Itallan congregation.l

In Geneva, according to Schdfer, Casiodoro began what
would be his 1life's work, the translation of Holy Seripture
into Spanish. He went to Frankfurt in 1558, and there
Joined the French refugee congregation. He did not remain
long, possibly because the web ecreated by King Philip II
made German soil too dangerous for Spanish Protestants.

From Frankfurt, Casiodoro moved to England, where again he

1 ~
Thomas MeCrie, Historia de la Reforma en Espana en el
Siglo XVI, translat;d from EngTTsh by Adam F. Sosa (Buenos
Aires: Libreria La Aurora, 1942), p. 211.
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became a member of the French congregation and later, leader
of the Spanish congregat.ion.2

Protestant refugees from all countries considered
Englend the safest place in Europe. The first foreign con-
gregation started in London was a Dutch or German congrega=-
tion, which gathered in the church of the Augustinian monks.
The French and Italian congregations followed.

from the time of Henry VIII, meny Spanish businessmen
lived in kZnpgland. Henry's first wife, Catherine, was from
Spein. 4er daughter, Mary, had many Spanieh attendants; the
number increesed considerably after her marriage to Philip II.
Little is known how some of these Spenlards were converted
to Protestentism; although, according to MeCrle, some suthors
claim the Gospel was preached in Spanish during the reign of
Edwerd VI. However, a Spenish congregation does not appeer
to have existed until the time of Elizebeth. During 1559,
Spenish services weore celebrated in privete London homee;
Casiodero de Reina wes the preaoher.3 Queen Elizabeth
grented him a sixty=-pound ennuel pension for services ren-
dered in the Spanish congregation end for translatiomn work
of the Bible into Spenieh.

Casiodoro de Reina wrote a confession of faithe

25ynst Schéfer, Seville und Valladolid, die Ev. Gemein-
den Spaniens im Ref. Zeitalter (Halle: Ver. f. Ref. Gesch.
no. 7ﬁ, 1903), P. 59.

3Mccrie, op. cite., PP. 212, 213.
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According to Gardesius, whom MeCrie quotes, the title read
es follows:

Confession c¢f Christisn Faith written by certzin falth-

ful Speniards, who fled the ebuses of the Roman Church

end the cruelty of the Spenish Inquisition, who left

thelr fetherland to be received by the Church of the

Feithful, by brethren in Christ.
According to MeCrie, this confession urheld the doctrines
common to ell Protestants, but in respeect to the Lord's
Supper, seemed to support the Reformed Churches in their
controveray with the Lutherans. The date of the confesalon
wvee 155C, as reported by G-ardesiun.4 Schafer states 1561,
and continues by saying that in the same year, Ceasiodoro
filed & petition with Secretary Cecil and Bishop Grindal, to
celebrate services publicly. The petition was grented, end
St. Mery Axe Chureh was put at his dispoaal.s

The eseistance grented by the English government to
benished Protestants, especlally the Spenish subjects,
greetly disturbed Pope Pilus V snd King Philip II of Spain,
In the Bull excommuniceting Elizebeth, Pope Pius V made
special mention of this "offense." Thereupon, Bishop Jewel
wrote & moving reply: Mentioning that the Spaniarde lost
or left behind everything=-goods, lands, homes, he continues:

Not due to adultery, theft, or treason, however, for

professing the Gospel, it pleased God to cast them
from their country. The Queen, through her gracious

4MoCrle, ope cit., D. 268, note 47.
SSchﬁfar, op. clt., pPs 59.
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riety, has greanted them asylum. Has the showing of

mercy become a detestable thing. God wanted the |
children of Ierael to love the foreigner because they

were foreigners 1n the land of Lgypt. The merciful |
will find mercy. Nevertheless, how many have come to
us? Three or four thousand. Thank God this ccuntry
can receive them, even if they were more. And why
cannot Jueen Llizabeth receive a few afflicted members
of Christ, who are obligated to .carry thelr ecross?
After it pleased God to keep them in their travels to
our ports, sghould we have cruelly expelled them, or
drowned them, or hanged them, or let them starve to
death? Vould the viecar of Christ counsel us such a
thing? And if a king receives and aids them, should

he for that reason be deprived of his honor? They are
our brethren; they do mnot live for nothing. If they
live in our homes, they pay rent; they do not take our
land without the proper compensation. They do not beg
in our streets, neither do they ask anything of us,
excoept to breathe ocur alr and behold our sun. They
know how to work and live modestly; they are an example
of virtue, work, faith, and patience. The people with
whom they live are happy, because God follows them

with his blessingse.

Ref'erring to the Spaniards that arrived in IEngland
during the reign of Queen MHary, the bishop ccntrasts them
With thelr Protestant countrymen in the following manner:

These are few, they were many; these are poor and

mlserable, they were haughty and proud; these are

naked, they were armed; those were despoiled by others,
they came tc despoll us; these were cast from thelr
country, they came to expel us from ours; these came
to save their lives; they came to take ours. If we
econformed by accepting them, do not hold 1t against

us if we receive these.

The Spenish monarch wee no less dlisturbed than the
Pope over asylum granted to Protestant subjects. Not con-

tent with persecuting them in his own territory, he pursued

them into all countries where they sought refuge. Great
sums of money were appropriated for maintenance of sples

and other expenses related to this horrible traffic. As was
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mentioned previously, periodically, in France end Germany,
fugitives were ceptured and delivered to the Inquisition in
Spein. U'hile the Spanish did not dare use the same tactlce
in Englend, they achieved thelr purpose by soliciting extra-
dition eof the refugees under false charges, treason, and
other orimes.6

On August 15, 1563, Philip II wrote the following note
to his ambassador, Bishop Alvaro de la Cuadra:

I have seen whet you told me that a certain Sir Fran=-

cisco Zapate and his wife have gone there (London),

and bhecause I would be very pleased if one could find

a vay to get out the mentloned S8ir Francisco Zapata

and Cesiodoro: I entreat you to look into this and

inform me of the orders that one can obtalin to get

them out of there and bring them to these parts, or

what can be done to remedy the damage they ere dolag

there, end do thie as quickly as_possible, for in

thies you would greatly serve me.

Ceglodoro de Reina hed been more fortunate than most
of the refugees in that his parents had alsc managed to
escape Spein, and were living with him in Londcn. Early in
1563, Casiodorc married either an Euglish or a2 Spenish girl.
Aecording to Schéfer, becsuse of the marriage, Elizebeth
withdrew the pension. A note writtenm by Diego Pérez,
secretary of Ambassador de la Cuadra, to Philip II, October 5,
1563, apperently corroboreates the fact:

From Cesiocdoro de Reina, & oor from Granade, who had
been a priest and preached to the few heretics dwelling

Gmccrie, ope cite., P. 215.

7Marcelino Menéndez y Pelayo, 1- oria de los He%erogo;og
Espanoles (Buenos Aires: Libreria Per ado, 1945), IiI,
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in London, the Queen withdrew the church she had

given him, as well as the sixty pound pension. He

was recently married.

Shortly after falling from royal favor, Casiodoro de
Reina was accused of sodomy. He was forced to leave the
once hospitable England. Even Menéndez y Pelayo admits that
thls accusation was probably a means to an end, and that
Casiodoro successfully proved his innocence, possibly in
Antwerp.8 However, Philip II's royal wish was carried
through, and Casliodoro de Reina was banished from England.
The Bible manuscripts were saved from the hands of the
enemy by Grindal, the Bishop of London.

Caslodoro next went to Antwerp where his young wife
Joined him. In recognition of the "damage" this zealous
preacher of the Gospel was doing among his Catholic country-
men, Philip II had placed & price on his head, a eircum-
stance which forced Casiodoro to continue his wanderings.

In spite of all these trials he continued the Bible trans-
lation. In 1564 he and Antonio del Corro visited Dr. Juan
Pérez de Pineda, in Montargis. Casliodoro may have mentioned
the financial problems involved with the translation, which
moved Dr. Juan Pérez to bequeath his estate for completion
of the translation.’

In 1564, Casiodoro de Reina attended the Colloquy of

BMenéhdez y Pelayo, op. cit., pP. 97.

9Sch5fer, op. cit., p. 60.
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Poissy with the French Huguenots. Count Bedford and the
English ambassador in Paris, Fragmarten, pald Caslodoro's
expenses for this jourmey. Did they pay the passage from
London or from the Netherlands? Actually, the Question 1is
of minor significance. However; if it was from London, it
would indicate that Casiodoro left England after 1563, and
not 1563, the date previously mentioned .+

10endndez y Pelayo, ope. cite., P. 97.




CHAPTER V
THE BIELE

By 1567, Casiodoro de Reina was in Frankfurt working

diligently on the translation. His work was interrupted by

a visit to Strassburg to answer a call and invitation to be-
come pastor of the French congregation. No agreement could
be reached because the Reformed leaders considered Reina too
Lutheran; and he was greatly displeased with the religilous
fights in progress in Strassburg.1 However, he apparently
remained in Strassburg, preparing his edition of the Bible
for printing with funds of the deceased Dr. Juan Pérez de

Pineda. A%t this time, Caslodoro worked with literary

friends, Preacher Conrad Hubert and rector of the Gymnas-
lum, John Sturm.

Casiodoro went to Basel, the Protestant printing center.
On Cctober 28, 1567, he wrote Hubert asking a certificate
from Rector Sturm, authorizing the impression of the Bible.

The Basel inspectors, Sulzer and Coctlio had put certaln ob-

stacles in his path because they did not know Spanish, nor
did they know the translatore.
Although he spent most of his time in Basel, Reina

Erntt Sehafer, Seville und Valladolid, die Ev. Gemein-
den Sganlena im Ref: Zeitaf§ Halle: Ver. f. Ref. genaﬁ
s 1903

no. )s Ps 6
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frequently traveled to Strassburg, where his wife had
remained. Returning from one of these trips, he became seri-
ously 111 and was in bed five weeks. I/hen he had recuper-
ated, he received the bad news that John Oporino, the
printer, had died, owing him the 500 florins advance deposit
fee for publishing. It was impossible to collect, because
Oporinc was heavily in debt at the time of his death.
Casiodoro sought alid from his friends in Frankfurt, who, in
turn, through friends in Strassburg, were able to send him
sufficient money to continue the printing.2

Casiodoro's health was very poor. He suffered contin-
uous headaches and fever. For this reason the publishing
of the Bible proceeded very slowly. Until May of 1569 he
had not completed the Acts of the Apostles. Casliodoro had
thought to obtain a copy of the New Testament of either
Francisco de Enzinas or Juan Peérez to revise and brint it.
However, he was unable to obtain either, and he had to
translate everything himself. Moreover, he was without

money; he needed at least 250 florins additional to finish

the book. Although he made e¢laims to the Senate of Basel,
he was unable to colleect a penny from the inheritance of
Oporino. How he finally solved this problem is not known.
Nevertheless, on June 14, he wrote his friends the good news

that he had received the last sheet of the Bible. He

2Marcelino Menéndez y Pelayo, g;gfﬁﬁgg e ‘Eiigggag;gl
Engaﬁo;gg (Buenos Aires: Libreria Perlado, g;‘i*} » 90
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further asked if 1t would be proper to dedicate the Book to
the Queen of England. He asked John Sturm to write the
prologue in Latin; Sturm complied, but he preferred to dedi-
cate the Bible to the princes of Europe, and especially to
those of the Holy Roman Empire.

Casiodoro de Reina informs us that he worked twelve
years on the translation:

Subtracting the time lost in sickness, travel, and

other necessary occupations in exile and poverty, we

can affirm thet in nine years I did not drop the penm,

neither slackened in study as long as strength

remained in body and spirit.
He humbly admitted:

Part of the long delay has been the lack of our

erudition for such an important work which was

necessary to compensate with double work, part has

also been the estimation that God gave us concerning

this work, and the zeal to handle it with all clean-

liness, which obligation one cannot satisfy with any

erudition, neither long diligence.>

Although 2603 copies were printed, this Bible is very
rare. The title page reads as follows: "The Bible, which
is, the Sacred Books of the 0ld and New Testament. Trans-
lated into Spanish." In the ecenter of the page is an
engraving which pictures a large tree with a keg of honey
suspended from one of the branches; bees and birds are fly-
ing around the tree; a bear is eating the honey. An open
Bible lies on the ground, perhaps opened to Job 23:12, a

passage that may have inspired the pleture. Because of the

3
B. Foster Stockwell, Prefaclos a las Biblia
Castellanas del Siglo XVI (Buenos Alres: Libreria La Aurora,

1939), pp. 112, 113.
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engraved allegory, the Bible was commonly called "of the
Bear." Under the engraving are the last four words of
Iseiah 40:8 written in Hebrew letters; below it the Spanish
trenslation: "The Word of our God shall stand forever."
Psalm 40. The page ends with M.D.LXIX.%

The title page does not mention the place of printing
or the name of the trenslator. The only i1dentification is
at the end of the Prologue, where are printed the initials,
"C. R"

There are coples that have the following false front
bage: The Eible, which is, the sacred books of the 01ld and
New Testement. Translated into Spanish. In the library of
David Aubri and Clement Scheleich. M.DC.XXii. At the end:
Year of the Lord: M.D.LXIX: In September. This front page
does not have the engraving of the bear, but of a Pegasus
with a Caduceus.

Menendez y Pelayo continues by quoting Brunet: "There
are elso copies with the false date, 1586." Also false (or
editorial fraud) are: the editions of Cosmopoli, by Cris-
tébal Philaletes, 1567 (about which Le=Long has his doubts);
1596, attributed to Moreri; and 1603, Frankfurt, mentioned
by Duchat.

Menéﬁdez y Pelayo also provides a short description of

the Bible. The pages were prepared in two columns. There

45tockwell, op. eite., De 8le
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were fifteen preliminary pages, two in wood, and three 4if-
ferent numerations of the book: 1438 columns from Genesis
to Eeclesiastes; 544 until Maccabees; 508 for the New Testa-
ment; one page for corrections; three for brief annotations
concerning the more difficult places of both the 0ld and
New Testaments, and one blank page at the end. The final
printing ie M.D.LXIX: 1in September.>

In the front of the Bible are the previously mentioned
dedication by John Sturm, and a prologue, written by
Casiodoro de Reina. The prologue has the following title:
"Advice of the Interpreter of the Sacred Books to the Reader
and to the Entire Church of the Lord, in which he presents
general reasons for his translation, as also special matters."

In the first part of his prologue, Reina shows the
necesslity of the translation of the Bible in the language of
the land. Next, holding himself to the third and fourth
articles of the Council of Trent, he maintains that he has
rendered the service that the Councll suggests; but to be
completely covered, he cleverly introduces himself as
"Catholie":

Regarding the author of this translation, if Catholie

is he who faithfully and simply believes and professes

| what the Holy Mother Christian Church belleves, holds,
} and maintains, determined by the Holy Spirit, by the
Canons of Divine Scriptures, in the Holy Councils and

| in the symbols and confessions of falth, which, are
‘ comronly cecalled the Apostolie, the Nicene, and the

} SMenéndez y Pelayo, op. git., pP. 99.
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Athanaslan, then he 1s a Catholiec, and manifest injury
is done to him by him who does not consider him such.

Under the subtltle, the Common Latin version, Casiodoro
informs that he did not use the Vulgate in his translation;
because of its many mistakes, he considered 1t as any other
version or reference. He clalms to have generally used the
translation of Santes Pagnino, considered by Hebrew scholars
as the most pure. He writes:

In the difficult places, no matter how insignificant,
we preferred neither this nor that version. Having had
recourse to the original Hebrew, we conferred with the
various versions, then used our liberty to choose what
seemed most convenient without obligating ourselves to
one version more than another, for differing even a
little, we had of necesslity to follow only one. To
satisfy all the tastes in the most important places we
added in the margin the interpretationa we cecould not
put in the text in order that the reader take the one
he thinks best, if what we used dld not satisfy him.

Although he lamented the Hebraisme and 1ts slighting
of the Messiah, Casiodoro admitted using freely the Spanish
0ld Testament printed in Ferrara.

Concerning additions to the text, he writes:

With all possible diligence, we tried to tie ourselves
to the text without taking away or adding. It was
never necessary to take away; we thus believe that in
our version nothing of the text is missing, unless
perchance an article, or a repetition of a verb, which,
wilthout changing the meaning a bit could be left out,
and which, would it be added, would sound absurd in the
Spanish language, but this happened so seldom I cannot
recall an example. Additions were often necessary;
some, to give greater clarity to the sentence, which in
ani other way would have remained hard or altogether
unintelligible: with all thet, we think to have done
it with all moderation, that in none of the versions
that we have seen (execluding only the Spanish of
Ferrara) there be less additions than in this one,
neither shorter ones than there are in ours, nelither
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to have shown them with more diligence in other type

than the common text, in order that the reader know all

of them, and have the liberty to utilize them, if he
censlders them apropos, or leave them and continue the
thought of the text, if it does not fit, because in
tnem we do not want, neither ought we harm any

Judgment.

In the same section he regrets that he could not use
the Syriac veraion of the Greek, but it did not appear until
the year he finlshed printing his Bible.

He presents various reasons why he used the name
"Jehova." Tue filrst and apparently most important reason
reads as followe: "It seemed to me that we could not leave
it out, or change it to another without being charged with
infidelity and singular sacrilege against the Law of God,
in which He demands that nothing be taken away, or added."

The words, "econcert," "pact," "alliance," he translated
"testament." Because he, for the first time in Spanish
literature uses the words "reptil," "esculptil," and
"esculptura," he apologlzes to the reader and explains their
meanings in detail.

Concerning annotations he writes: "There are two kinds
of annotations: one, which helps to explain words, figures,
idioma; another, to explain the things, which without
knowing them, not even elear words ecould holp.“6

Before each chapter, he put long summaries, or rather,

arguments, to show the order or gonnection of the deeds or

6stockwell, op. elt., pp. 83-117.
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ldeas. According to Richard Simon, the annotations of

Reina were, almost without exeeption, taken from the
Zwinglian Bible of Lion of Juda or from the ancient Bibles
of Geneva.' Menendez y Pelayo also adds that Caslodoro de
Relna included the Deutero=Canonical books, as had been done
in all the early Lutheran Bibles.®

On August 6, Relna sent to Strassburg four large casks
of Bibles and asked Hubert to pick them up "for a purpose
known to him." Menéndez y Pelayo guessed to take them to
Flanders and from there, ship them to Spain.

At the University of Basel, there still exists the
signed volume given by Casiodoro de Reina with the dedica-
tion written in Latin:

Caslodoro de Reina, Spaniard, of Seville, student of

this famous Academy, author of this Spanish trans-

lation of the Sacred Seripture, in which he worked
ten full years, managed to print it with the ald of
plous pastors of the Church of Basel, and by decree
of the most prudent Senate, in the printing press of
the honored Thomas Guerino, citizen of Basel, dedi-

cates this book to the 1llustrious University, as a

long lasting sign of his gratitude and respect.?

The opinion of Menéndez y Pelayo concerning the Bible
18 noteworthy: "Having been done during the best period of
the Spanish language, in all aspects, the version of

Casiodoro de Reina by far exceeds the modern of Torres Amat,

7ﬂenéﬁdez y Pelayo, op. cit., p. 10l.
1vid., p. 102, note 24.

21bid., p. 99.
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and the most misersble of Father Scio."1©

Did another Spanish Protestant Bible exist before that
of Casiodoro de Reina? Boehmer aske the question after
¢iting a letter from Philip II to his ambassador in Paris,
dated April 6, 1568:

I would be much pleased had you found the original of

the Spanish Bible, and at the same time gathered and

burned what had been printed . « « and by all means

get those two monks, of whom you write, out of there,

because thelr remaining can bring no good fruit.
One of those monks was Antonio del Corro; the other, perhaps
Diego de Santa Cruz. However, from a letter of Casiodore
to Diego Lopez, we infer that it concerned a New Testament
and not a complete Bible. Antonio del Corro wrote to
Casiodoro in 1563, inviting him to come to Navarre to print
the Bible; a suggestion that never passed the planning
stage. lMendndez y Pelayo therefore eoncludes that
Casiodoro de Reilna's Bible of 1569 was the first Spanish
Protestant Bible.

Menéndez y Pelayo also raised and answered the ques=-
tion, "Why did Casiodoro not dare to dedicate his trans=-
lation to the Queen of England?" He quoted a letter of
Sturm to Elizebeth, written in September, 1569, which he
thinks provides the clue. He (Reina) feared the Spaniards
would look with misgivings at a book supported by such a

hated patronage. The principal reason, however, seems to

10 enénaez y Pelayo, op. cit., p. 10l.
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have been the fact that Csslodoro had been ignominiously
eéxpelled from fnglend. Nevertheless, he still desired to
return. Sturm acted as Reina's intercessor, and wrote a
letter discuseing the virtue and piety of his friend. He
blamed the misfortunes that had befallen the Spaniard to the
envy and malevolence of his rivals. He spoke very highly of
the Spanish Bible and its translator. To obtain permission
for the Bibles to be sold openly in England, Sturm sent an
accompanylng letter addressed to Minister William Cecil.l1

Casiodoro's Bible was not destined to be soon forgot-
ten. 1In 1599, Elias Hutter printed a polyglot New Testa=
ment in Nuremberg. The Spanish translation used in the
edition was that of Caslodoro de Reina.t2

Of the monks that originally fled the monastery of San
Isidro, only a few have left a lasting impression in the
history of the Christian Church. One of these was Cipriano
de Valera. Valera and Reina fled together and were also
burned in effigy at the same Auto de Fe in 1562. After a
brief sojourn in Geneva, Cipriano established his home in
England. There he was married and obtained teaching posi-
tions at the universities.

In 1588 he wrote Treatise on the Pope and on the Mass,
and in 1594, Treatise to Confirm in the Christian Feith the

pendndez y Pelayo, op. git., pp. 102, 103.
121p1d., pe 99.
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Captives of Berbesis (Spain). Valera openly professed to
belng a follower of Calvin. Menendez y Pelayo thinks Valera
llved in Geneva for some time. In 1596 he published a
translation of Calvin's Catechism, and in 1597, a translation
of Calvin's Institutes of the Christian Religion. In 1599
he translated The Reformed Catholie, or Declaration yhich

on Points of Relisione. In 1600 he authored Announcement to
the Roman Churgh.”

Hls work, however, that has been of greatest impor-
tance was the revision of the Spanish Bible, published in
1602. This work occupied him in one way or another during
twenty years. Although the revised version appears without
the name of the origlinal translator, in the ixhortatlion,
Cipriano de Valera admitted that he had used the version of
Casiodoro de Reina, and expressed the followlng opinion:
"The version of Casliodoro, according to my judgment, and
according to the judgment of all who understand, is excel-
lent, and so we have followed 1t, word for word, as much as
possible."

Valera printed the New Testament first in London in the
year 1506. The complete Bible appeared in 1602, printed not
in London, but in Amsterdam from the house of Lorenzo

Jacobl. 14

Lyendnaez y Pelayo, op. cit., pp. 120-123.

l45tockwell, op. clt., p. 122.
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He removed Reina's marginal notes, ahbreviated‘tho
chaptor summaries, and ignored the Greek text variants and
the ancient Latin translations. Mendéndez y Pelayo states:
"It cennot be denied, in general, Cipriano bettered the
work of his predecessor, and his Bible, considered as a
language text, should hold the same authority among us as
the Diodati among the Italiang."’”

In our dey the Bible is known as the Reina=Valera
Edition. It occuples the same position among Spanish Bibles
as the King James Version does among those in the English
language. Bible societies use this text to bring God's Word
into the homes of the Spanish-speaking world. Since 1602,
the Reina-Valera Bible has been further revised and edited,
but without changing its identity. The most recent revision
will appear, God willing, Easter of 1958.

15Menéhdez y Pelayo, op. cit., pP. 124,




CHAPTER VI
THE LATTER YEARS

Having completed the Bible, by summer of 1570,
Casiodoro de Reina left Basel to go to Frankfurt, where he
had many friends, and where the Senate had made him a citi-
zen of the city. He established a great friendship with
Pastor Mathias Ritter. Together with Hubert, they planned
to publish en edition of the complete works of Bucer, which
was to contein his blography, written by Sturm. The plan
wasg never realized.l

In Frankfurt, Casiodoro found it necessary to support
himself and his family by the labors of his hands. Howsver,
Relna is author of a very rare book on the Gospel of Saint
Matthew, printed in Frankfurt in 1573, dedicated to Jchn
Sturm, whom he calls "patron of his innocency, comfort in
his afflictions, and his refuge in the tempests which raged
against him in Straasburg." Boehmer also mentions an expo=-
sition of the first part of the fourth chapter of Saint
Matthew, dedicated in 1573 to the theologians of Basel.

This work is unknown, however, to Menéndez y Pelayo.2

1Marcellno Menéndez
s y Pelayo, Historia de los Heterodoxos
Espanoles (Buenos Aires: Libreria ?erlado, T§‘§T: ’ Se

21bid., p. 107.
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After eight years he was given an opportunity to re-
turn to the pastorate. The French congregation in Antwerp
called him as pastor. Reina accepted with Joy; but before
assuming the position, he returned to London to brilliantly
Justify himself against the earlier perniclous acousation.-
Menéndez y Pelayc thinks that Casiodoro cleered himself in
Mntwerp, but 1s not certein ebout the trip to London--he
leaves that question open.4

The congregation in Antwerp was Lutheran, also called
Mertinist of the Augsburg Confession. The members assembled
in the Carmelite cloister.

Mendndez y Pelayo was able to read Boehmer's collection
of thirteen lettera that Casiodoro wrote during this inter-
val, all addressed to Mathlas Ritter. In the letters, Reina
mentions that the Journey from Germany to Antwerp was long
and difficult. He was well received by the members. They
informed him of the state of the Church. It had suffered
greetly because of the scarclty of pastors, and the strife
created by Catholies, Calvinists, and the Reformed. Even
within the congregetion srose strange diversitles of opin-
lon: whether original sin was an accident or the same
physical substance of man, and whether it was lawful to

perform a marriage on Sunday. Casiodoro came with ample

3irnst Schéfer, Seville und Valladolid, d;e Wv. emein=-
den Sganlens im Ref. Zeltalter (Halle: ver. ge8che
no. 78, 1903), p. 6.

4Menendez y Pelayo, op. clt., DPe 104,
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powers from the congregetion of Frankfurt (main center of
the Augsburz Confession) to direct and correct the disturbed
brethren. However, not everything went as planned.

The following June, Casiodoro was in Cologne, perhavs
desirous of retirement to Frankfurt. The rleadings, pro=-
tests, even threats, of the fellow believers, nevertheless,
prevalled upon him and brought about his return to Antwerp.
The church was in a disastrous condition=-it did not even
have a formulary or book of prayers and administration of
the Sacraments. Casiodoro ordered one from Frankfurt,
where they rapidly translated the one in use into French.

At thils time the Calvinists began to say that
Caslodoro's arrivel was an outrage and a serlous wound for
the church. They left no stone unturned in the attempt to
have hinm removed. In T©ngland was uncovered the confession
which had been submitted to the Archbishop of Canterbury.

As was mentioned previously, in thils confession, Reina ex-
pressed himself in Calvinistic terminology regarding the
Lord's Supper. The Reformed of Antwerp triumphantly pub=-
lished thlis document in no less than three languages and
distributed it profusely, with the hope of damsging Reina's
reputation among the pastors of the Augsburg Canession.5

As early as January, 1567, Antonio del Corro printed

this confession in Latin, French, German, and English, and

PMendndez y Pelayo, op. cit., p. 105.
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sent 1t to all the brethren of the Augsburg Confession.
His motive at the time 18 not olear.s

Casiodoro immedlately redacted an apology, in which he
declared himself with the Wittenberg Concordia, adjusted in
1536 by Luther with Bucer and his followers; and invited all
Reformed ministers to adhere to it without eircumlocution,
as the only means of reaching harmony on this point. He re-
affirmed, moreover, that his confession of England differed
in no point from the Concordia, and that no one could con-
sider him a Calvinist or Zwinglian because he held certain
opinions about matters of liberty. The magistrates of Ant-
werp published Casiodoro's apology; but even his friends of
the Augsburg Confession, especially Ritter, did not approve
the articles of London, and considered it a vain effort to
attempt their reconceiliation with Wittenberg orthodoxy.

In spite of these difficulties, Casiodoro managed to
organize the Lutheran congregation, and prepared for print-
ing, a Cathechism, some Psalms in French with music of the
German churches. Casiodoro again seriously considered
returning to Frankfurt. Trouble increased. The Calvinists
and those of the Augsburg Confession publicly insulted one
another. Casiodoro, having no recourse to terminate 1t,

deplored the profanation of the Gospel. Considering the

6momas MoCrie, Historia de la Reforma en Espana en el
Siglo XVI, translated from English by Adam F. Sosa (Buenos
Alres: Libreria La Aurora, 1942), p. 268, note 48.
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shortage of pastors, however, Reina declded to remain in
Antwerp. He brought his wife and children from Frankfurt
and asked lMathias Ritter to sell his books. The Cate=-
chism he published in 1580 also provided reason for discordj
& Lutheran pastor, unknown, and the theologian Heshusio
eriticized 1t.7

Casiodoro de Reina was suggested for Superintendent of
the Church of the Augsburg Confession. A superintendent
was simllar to a bishop, overseer of a diocese. However,
he deeclined, preferring to remain pastor of his French con-
gregation. When Alexander Farmese, the Duke of Parma,
galned control of Antwerp in Augﬁst, 1585, Casiodoro and
many of his members fled to Frankfurt.a

In Frankfurt, he lived as a patriarch among the evan-
gellcal Lutherans that had sought refuge from Holland. He
again supported himself ocutside the church and established
a business in silks. Some time later he was elected second
pastor of the French Lutheran Church in Frankfurt and as-
sumed the pastorate July 20, 1593. He was permitted to
labor eight months more, until his death on March 15, 1594.

Very little is recorded about his famlly. He had a
son, Mark, who in 1593, appears enrolled in the University
of Wittenberg; he became pastor in Frgnkfurt two years fol-

7Menéndez y Pelayo, op. cit., pP. 106.

8sehater, op. eit., p. 62.
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lowing his father's death.

E. Christ says that to this day, in the Dutch Hall of
Frankfurt, hangs a portrait of Casiodoro de Reina with
these words: "Cassiodorus Reinius, born in Seville, citizen
of Frankfurt on the Main, Pastor of the French Lutherans,
first in Antwerp and then in Frankfurt; there he died
March 15, 1594." |

Below the portrait is inseribed this German verses

A Spanlerd by birth, a good Protestant

a faithful Pastor, a man of great gifts,

In Antwerp and here in Frankfurt well known

was this REINIUS. What else does one want?

In the Netherlands his name remains highly honored 9
earning credit for himself working for their church.

9%. christ, Herces Espanoles de la Fe (Madrid:
Libreria Nacional y Lxtranjera, 1894), pp. 296-298.




CHAPTER VII
CONCLUSION

One is lead to a greater appreciation of the contribu-
tion Caslodoro de Reina made to humanity when one realizes
the persecution, privation, humiliation, and suffering en-
dured while translating the Bible. As the years have passed,
the Reina-Valera Bible has begcome increasingly more impor-
tant to the Spanish-speaking worlde.

Little is known, however, about the man who produced the
translation. Nothing is recorded about his childhood and
early youth. The brief references to his student years at
the monastery of San Isidro add few details about his 1life
and person. No writer described Casiodoro's physical char-
acteristics. The portrait in Frankfurt would be the only
source of information regarding his appearance.

Although Lutherans, Calvinists, and Roman Catholics
admit that Casiodoro de Reina died in the Lutheran faith of
the Augsburg confession, his religious life remains a com=
parative mystery. The earliest date that he is specifically
called a "Lutheran" is 1578, the year he assumed the pastor-
ate in Antwerp. In 1567, Caslodoro had been called to be
pastor of the French congregation in Strassburg, but, ac-
cording to Ernst Schdfer, the Reformed leaders considered

him as belng too Lutheran. One may infer from the questions
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econecerning ubiquity asked of Casiodoro by Antonlo del Corro
in 1563, that Casiodoro was informed, or expected to know,
about the controversy raging at the time between the
Lutherans and the Calvinists. The confesslon Caslodoro
wrote in London expressed itself in Calvinistic terminology
respecting the Lord's Supper. To go back further than 1559
or 1561, the yeer he may have written the confession, 1s
unnecessary.

Positive traces of Lutheranism in the Bible translation
of Caslodoro de Relna are negligible. He lgnored the
Vulgate, and held himself, in the translation, to the origi-
nel texts. He included the Deutero-Canonical books, as was
the custom in 21l the ancient Lutheran Bibles. However,
these particulars would not make it "Lutheran." Actually,
more Calvinistic and Zwinglian influence are apparent=-—he
printed the Bible in Basel. In the dedication, he expressed
gratitude to the pious pastors of the Church of Basel for
meking it possible for him to print the Bible. According
to Richard Simon, quoted by Menéndez y Pelayo, the summaries
were drawn from the Zwinglian Bible of Lion of Juda, or
from the ancient Bibles of Geneva.

From the prologue, one derives the impression that he
worked with an attitude of complete impartiality. The
translation of the Book was the important thing. Moreover,
this 18 what is sought=-=-that above all things, the trans-
lation be faithful to the original text.
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